IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC03-2110

ROBERT E. MADDOX, Petitioner,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA, Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, SECOND DISTRICT

## PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN Public Defender

ANTHONY C. MUSTO Special Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 207535 Office of the Public Defender P. O. Box 9000 - Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 863-534-4200

#### INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Robert E. Maddox was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant on appeal. Respondent State of Florida was the prosecution at trial and the appellee on appeal. The parties will be referred to in this brief as "Mr. Maddox" and "the state." The symbol "R" will constitute a reference to the record on appeal.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

### I THE CHARGES

On November 15, 2001, an information was filed in the Circuit Court for the Tenth Judicial Circuit of Florida charging that on or about October 7, 2001, Mr. Maddox committed two counts of forgery and one each of giving false information to law enforcement and driving while license suspended or revoked (R 25-27).

## II THE SWORN MOTION TO DISMISS

Mr. Maddox filed a sworn motion to dismiss the two forgery counts (Supplemental Record). On the morning of the hearing on that motion (R 44), April 25, 2002, an amended information was filed, which added two counts of uttering a forgery to the above noted counts (R 37-40). At the hearing, defense counsel orally amended the motion to also include the two uttering counts (R 44-45). The defense also subsequently filed a sworn motion directed to those counts (R 86-87).

With regard to the facts, the sworn motion to dismiss (Supplemental Record) asserted that:

On or about October 7, 2001, a vehicle in which the Defendant was located was stopped by PCSO Deputy Russell Hilson. The Defendant was subsequently ticketed for two offenses, but the tickets were written out to Nathaniel Lewis Maddox. The Defendant signed for the tickets, but only signed his last name, Maddox, on the tickets, which is his correct last name. Based on this, the Defendant was charged with two counts of Forgery.

The state did not file a traverse or a demurrer to this motion.

A hearing was held on the motion. At that hearing, the state presented the testimony of Deputy Russell Hilson, who had effectuated a traffic stop of a vehicle driven by Mr. Maddox (R 52). In response to the deputy's question, Mr. Maddox identified himself as Nathaniel Louis Maddox (R 53, 70), which is the name of Mr. Maddox' brother (R 60, 69). The deputy gave Mr. Maddox traffic citations (Citations No. 3045-AOD and 3047-AOD) for improper lane change and no proof of insurance (R 54). Each of the citations was issued to Nathaniel Louis Maddox (R 48, Supplemental Record). After the deputy explained to Mr. Maddox that it would be a criminal offense for him not to sign the citations, Mr. Maddox signed each of them (R 55).

At the hearing, Mr. Maddox testified that he merely signed his last name, Maddox, on the citations (R 69) and that he did not write any other name or letter (R 69). As to citation number 3045-AOD, the deputy testified, "[I]t appears to me that may be an N at the very beginning where, I don't know, what you think he's signed, but at the very beginning it looks like an N to me (R 49)." As to citation number 3047-AOD, the deputy was asked, "Do you see an M, N, L, anything up there other than what appears to be M-A and squiggles (R50)?" He replied, "It could be construed as an N or an M (R 50)."

While the deputy was engaging in the ticketing process, another deputy was searching the vehicle and he found an I.D. card with Mr. Maddox's picture and correct name on it (R 57). After running a computer check and determining Mr. Maddox' correct identity, Deputy Hilson issued a third citation (R 57), this time in Mr. Maddox' correct name (R 57), for driving while license suspended (Supplemental Record). The deputy testified that Mr. Maddox refused to sign a third citation and that he was arrested for failing to do so (R 57). After the prosecutor took the position that any signature by Mr. Maddox, whether his actual name or otherwise, would constitute forgery (R 78), the court denied the sworn motion to dismiss (R 80) and indicated that it would also deny a motion directed to the uttering charges (R 80-81).

## III THE MOTION IN LIMINE

Prior to trial, the state sought a ruling on the admissibility of the traffic citations (T 3-22). The prosecutor proffered the testimony of Deputy Hilson with regard to the issue, stating (T 4-5):

[H]e would also testify that once he discovered the defendant's true identity, those citations were basically voided. They were not issued because they were in essence defective or forged. So I think that would be necessary testimony to come out in order for me to attempt to argue that they should be admissible because they are not citations under the plain meaning of the law. So they are defective citations and, therefore admissible.

Subsequently, the following occurred (T 6-7):

MS. REID [defense counsel]: ... Just to clarify first, Judge. Are we saying -- from what I understand Ms. Greer is saying then that the two citations in the name of Nathaniel then were not traffic citations per the definition. Therefore, they would not be public records if they're not traffic citations; is that correct? Since they are for all intents and purposes null and void, that they were not issued, in quotes, according to the definition of the term issued. Am I understanding that correct:

THE COURT: I understand her to say that they were not issued and voided.

MS. GREER [prosecutor]: Yes.

THE COURT: Then new --

MS. GREER: And that, therefore, they aren't citations as, you know, defined and -- or intended by the legislature.

The court found the citations to be admissible, stating (T 21):

Using, according to the best case scenario, just his last name, I'm going to find that based on my reading of Dixon, that was an issued citation, it appears to me that's what it was. This case, according to the proffer made by Ms. Greer, they were not, in quotes, issued; and, therefore, not excluded by the statutory section. So I'm going to admit them. And for both, for purposes and yours, Ms. Reid, if you need them. ...

Defense counsel then asked, "Judge, did you say you made a finding that they are not, quote, issued citations (T 21)?" The court replied, "They are not issued citations (T 21)."

# IV OTHER PRETRIAL MOTIONS

Mr. Maddox filed a motion to dismiss the two forgery and the two uttering counts (R 90-91), and a motion for reconsideration of the state's motion in limine (R 92-93), which were considered by the court (T 84-102) following jury selection, but before any testimony was taken and before the jury was sworn (T 108). Among the grounds raised for dismissal was the fact that because the court had held that the citations were not issued, they could not form the basis for the forgery or uttering charges (R 90). Also asserted was the argument that because the state failed to traverse the sworn motion, the court could not consider facts in addition to those asserted in the motion (R 91). The court denied the motion to dismiss on all grounds (T 97-98) and denied the motion for reconsideration (T 102).

# V TRIAL

At trial, Deputy Hilson testified that he stopped Mr. Maddox for an improper lane change (T 120), that he asked Mr. Maddox for his license, registration, and proof of insurance (T 120), that Mr. Maddox replied that he did not have his license on him (T 120), that he asked Mr. Maddox his name (T 121), that Mr. Maddox gave him the name "Nathaniel Lewis Maddox" and the date of birth of 11-1-1980 (T 121), that he filled out two citations, one for the improper lane change and one for no proof of insurance (T 122), that Mr. Maddox was hesitant about signing the citations (T 122), that he told Mr. Maddox that failure to sign or accept a summons was a criminal offense (T 122), that he explained to Mr. Maddox various options regarding the disposition of the citations (R 123), and that Mr. Maddox did sign the citations (T 126).

The deputy testified that after he had filled out the two citations, another deputy located an ID card in Mr. Maddox's vehicle (T 125). He went on to state that he kept the citations in his possession after Mr. Maddox signed them (T 126), placing them inside his shirt (T 126). He further indicated that he arrested Mr. Maddox for refusing to sign a third citation, that he then transported Mr. Maddox to the jail, and that he then logged the citations into evidence (T 126).

The state then sought to introduce the citations into evidence (T 127). The defense objected (T 127) on the ground that the officer's testimony identifying the citations as the ones he had "issued (T 126)" was not consistent with the court's prior ruling that they were admissible because they had not been issued. Upon further examination, the deputy indicated that he, rather than Mr. Maddox, kept the citations (T 128), that "instead of giving (T 128)" the citations to Mr. Maddox, the deputy placed them into evidence (T 129), that the deputy issued two new citations in Mr. Maddox' correct name (T 130-131), and that Mr. Maddox did not keep a copy of the citations issued under the name Nathaniel Lewis Maddox (T 131). The defense repeated its objection to the admissibility of the citations (T 132). The prosecutor responded, "It is clear from the testimony that he retracted those citations and he is just using the term issued (T The court overruled the objection (T 132) and the 132). citations were admitted and published to the jury (T 133).

On cross-examination, the following occurred (T 135-137):

Q. Look at citation number 3045-AOD, check digit

9. He signed that Maddox, did he not?

A. Can I see the other one as well.

Q. I'm just asking you about this one. Is that Maddox?

A. Well, the first portion, I looked at it and when I looked at it, it looked like it could be an "N".

Q. But there isn't, is there, it is Maddox?

A. That is up to you to determine if that's Maddox.

Q. It is up to the jury to determine, would you agree?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. Okay.

A. I would say it is an "N".

Q. Okay. This citation number, 3047-AOD, check digit X, that signature, is that also Maddox?

A. Yeah, I'm sure it could be construed as Maddox, yes, ma'am.

Q. And where on this did you see an "N"? This 3045 ticket, where do you see an "N"?

A. Right here appears that it could be an "N".

Q. I mean, where everybody sees a "M" you see an "N"?

A. I'm explaining to you what I believed it to be.

Q. Okay. It was on the basis of you seeing an N on 3045 that you charged or arrested Mr. Maddox or charged him at least with forgery, correct?

A. No, ma'am.

Q. Okay.

A. Once Mr. Maddox explained to me who he was and I observed his signature on the citation that was issued under Robert Maddux and observed the way it was written out the way it was, that's what -- that's why I determined that those were forgery.

Q. It was based on the signature of these?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. Not on the other stuff contained in here, just the signature, right?

A. Correct.

Subsequently, the deputy testified that the citation Mr. Maddox refused to sign, forming the basis for his arrest, was the one bearing the number 3046 and that it had been voided for reasons the deputy did not recall (T 142).

On redirect, the deputy testified as follows (T 154-155):

Q. And on cross you testified that, basically, this is Mr. Maddox's signature at the bottom of these two citations?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. Are these evidence as to what caused you to charge him with forgery?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. What makes those two signatures significant?

A. Those two signatures are different from the ones that are issued to Robert Maddox.

Q. How are they different?

A. Because the -- I'm sorry. The signature on Nathaniel Lewis Maddox's citation is a last name, or a possible initial and last name, whereas on the other --

MS. REID: Objection, Judge, as to any testimony about anything about the other citation what they contain because they are not at issue.

THE COURT: Sustained.

Q. (By Ms. Greer) Okay. He put his signature on those two citations, the first two citations?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. You found out his real name, then you charged him with forgery?

A. Correct.

Q. Why did you charge him with forgery?

A. Because of the signature at the bottom of the two citations issued to Nathaniel Lewis Maddox. The first one that I explained to Ms. Reid appears to me that it is a possible "N". I believe it to be an "N".

The state's next witness, Deputy Corey Hover, testified that he was searching Mr. Maddox' car while Deputy Hilson was dealing with the traffic citations, that he found a Florida ID card with the name Robert Maddox on it and with Mr. Maddox' picture on it, and that he informed Deputy Hilson of his find (T 158). Deputy Hover also testified that the signatures on the two citations consisted solely of the name "Maddox (T 161-162)."

The state also introduced a certified copy of a driving record for an individual named Robert Edward Maddox (T 197-198). This record reflected that on October 7, 2001, the license with which it was concerned was in a suspended status (T 198), and that notice of the suspension was mailed (T 202) on February 13, 2001 (T 199), the date of suspension and of a notation of a fine to be paid (T 179, Supplemental Record).

After the state rested (T 203), a defense motion for judgment of acquittal was denied (T 207-218).

The jury found Mr. Maddox guilty as charged on all counts (T 268). A defense motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict was denied (T 274). The court withheld adjudication on all counts, and imposed 30 month probationary terms with regard to the forgery and uttering counts, a 12 month probationary term with regard to the giving false information count, and a six month probationary term with regard to the driving while license suspended count (R 118), with all terms running concurrently (R 122).

# VI APPEAL

Mr. Maddox appealed to the Second District Court of Appeal. That court affirmed the convictions and sentences, *Maddox v*. *State*, 862 So. 2d 783 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), but certified that its decision was in conflict with the decision in *Dixon v*. *State*, 812 So. 2d 595 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2002). The present proceeding follows.

# SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying Mr. Maddox' sworn to dismiss, motion for judgment of acquittal, and motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict.

For each of several reasons, the evidence was insufficient to prove forgery. In the first place, signing a false name on a citation does not constitute forgery. This court has never so concluded. The concept that such a signature is forgery arises from a district court decision that concluded that the signature operates as an appearance bond and the fact that a bond can be the subject of a forgery. Because no security is posted or pledged, however, this conclusion cannot be accepted. Rather, the citation constitutes the very opposite of a bond, a determination that no bond will be required and that the individual signing the citation will be released on his or her own recognizance.

Second, because Mr. Maddox signed the traffic citations with his correct last name and nothing more, there was no showing that the writing here purported to be the writing of another, a showing that is necessary in order to sustain a forgery conviction.

Another reason to find that the convictions for forgery must be reversed arises from the trial court's finding that the traffic citations here were not issued and the district court's conclusion that they were withdrawn. If they were not issued, they were of no binding force or legal efficacy and it is clear that such documents cannot be the basis of forgery. Moreover, under such circumstances, or if the citations were withdrawn and were therefore, as the district court found, no longer citations, they could not have been bonds and they therefore would not fall within the forgery statute.

Acceptance of any of the foregoing reasons would mandate not just reversal of the forgery convictions, but also the convictions for uttering because the crime of uttering cannot occur unless there is a forgery.

The evidence as to driving while license suspended was insufficient as well. In order to prove the offense, the state was required to show that Mr. Maddox had notice that his license was suspended. It did not do so. Rather, it proved merely that notice had been mailed, not that it was received. The rebuttable presumption established by statute is inapplicable here because the suspension was for failure to pay a traffic fine and the statute specifically excludes such suspensions from the presumption.

Error also occurred when the trial court admitted the citations into evidence. Section 316.650(9), Florida Statutes, specifically provides that such citations are inadmissible and the decision in *Dixon* finds the provision applicable to prosecutions for forgery of traffic citations. That decision is based on the well settled principles that when a statute is plain and unambiguous, there is no occasion for judicial interpretation and that such a statute should be given its plain and obvious meaning. The fact that a court might disagree with the approach taken by the legislature does not allow it to alter the meaning of the statute, to concern itself with the wisdom or policy of the act, or to usurp the prerogatives of the legislature through judicial legislation. The statute at issue here provides quite plainly that citations shall not be admissible at any trial and the courts are therefore obligated to give effect to that directive.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Point I deals with the sufficiency of the evidence. Since "[t]rial and appellate courts are equally capable of making the legal judgment whether the evidence is legally sufficient," State v. Smyly, 646 So. 2d 238, 241 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1994), such issues are subject to de novo review. Point II deals with the

admissibility of evidence, a matter reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard. *Sexton v. State*, 697 So. 2d 833 (Fla. 1997).

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING MR. MADDOX' SWORN MOTION TO DISMISS, MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL AND MOTION FOR JUDGMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT WHEN:

(A) MR. MADDOX GAVE HIS BROTHER'S NAME TO THE DEPUTY WHO STOPPED HIM FOR AN IMPROPER LANE CHANGE, WAS ASKED TO SIGN TWO TRAFFIC CITATIONS ISSUED IN THE NAME OF HIS BROTHER, AND SIGNED THE CITATIONS WITH ONLY HIS LAST NAME "MADDOX;" AND

(B) THE STATE FAILED TO MEET ITS BURDEN OF PROVING THAT MR. MADDOX HAD KNOWLEDGE THAT HIS LICENSE WAS SUSPENDED, PRESENTING NOTHING MORE THAN EVIDENCE THAT NOTICE OF THE SUSPENSION HAD BEEN MAILED.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Mr. Maddox recognizes that jurisdiction in this case arises from the district court's certification of conflict and actual conflict with regard to the issue of whether the trial court erred in admitting the traffic citations. That issue is discussed in Point II, infra. Despite this fact, the present issue, which challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support Mr. Maddox' convictions, is an appropriate issue for this court's consideration. It is well settled that once this court has a case properly before it for review, it may "consider any error in the record." Lawrence v. Florida East Coast Ry. Co., 346 So. 2d 1012, 1014, n. 2 (Fla. 1977). See also Leisure Resorts, Inc. v. Frank J. Rooney, Inc., 654 So. 2d 911, 912 (Fla. 1995) ("Having accepted jurisdiction, we may review the district court's decision for any error."). Cf. Angrand v. Key, 657 So. 2d 1146, 1148, n. 3 (Fla. 1995), Wells, J., with two justices concurring and one justice concurring in part and dissenting in part (indicating that this court has discretion to consider issues ancillary to those certified to it).

Moreover, it is particularly appropriate in this case to review not just the issue relating to the admissibility of the citations, but also the question of whether the evidence was sufficient. This is because, for each of two reasons, the two issues are inextricably intertwined. First, Mr. Maddox argues in the sufficiency point that a false signature on a traffic citation does not constitute a forgery. Should this court agree with his position in this respect, the conflict will no longer be of any significance because forgery prosecutions under such circumstances will no longer occur. Second, it should be realized that the district court decision under review concluded that the citations here were admissible because they were withdrawn and therefore did not constitute citations at all, but just documentary evidence.

#### **1** FORGERY AND UTTERING CHARGES

#### (a) DENIAL OF SWORN MOTION TO DISMISS

A sworn motion to dismiss should be granted when "[t]here are no material disputed facts and the undisputed facts do not establish a prima facie case of guilt against the defendant." Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.190(c)(4).

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