IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT E. MADDOX,

Appellant/Petitioner,

v.

FSC Case No. SC03-2110 DCA Case No. 2D02-4143

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Respondent.

_____/

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Chief-Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief, Tampa Criminal Appeals Florida Bar No. 0238538

DONNA S. KOCH Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0865974 Concourse Center 4 3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 (813) 287-0600 Fax (813) 281-5500

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Second District Court affirmed the trial court's ruling admitting the traffic citations into evidence against Petitioner. In reaching that conclusion, the Second District disagreed with the majority in the First District's opinion in *Dixon v. State*, 812 So. 2d 595 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002), and certified conflict with that opinion. The parties are before this Court on discretionary certified conflict.

First, these two cases are not particularly in conflict. Petitioner waived the issue of the admissibility of the traffic citations when he utilized the citations to his advantage during cross-examination of the arresting officer at trial. The cases are also factually distinguishable because the citations at issue in Petitioner's case were not issued but retained by the officer and placed into evidence at the police station. There

was no such showing in *Dixon*. This Court should thus dismiss jurisdiction.

Second, § 316.650, Fla. Stat., applies to uniform traffic citations and not the forged citations at issue in *Maddox* and *Dixon*. According to § 316.650(9), "such citations shall not be admissible evidence in any trial." The reference to "any trial" must be read in the context of Chapter 316. When viewed in context, particularly in light of the legislative intention which is expressly set forth at § 316.002, and the legislative history of § 316.650(9), the reference to "any trial" was intended to mean any trial on "any charge involving any violation of [former] chapter 317, [now Chapter 316] or upon a charge of a violation of any statute regulating the control of traffic."

Further, a forged uniform traffic citation is a defective citation not within the embrace of the reference to "such citations" in 316.650(9). Section 316.650(9) is intended to protect the person to whom the citation is issued during his prosecution for the traffic offense and the name of the person to whom the citation was issued is not the person being prosecuted in the criminal forgery case. Moreover, a literal interpretation of the phrase "any trial" would lead to demonstrably absurd manifestations and § 316.650(9) should not

applied as a procedural rule of evidence until such time as this Court adopts it as a rule of evidence.

Last, this Court is not required to revisit Petitioner's points from his direct appeal as the issue before this Court is discretionary certified conflict. Moreover, the Second District did not find them meritorious. Nevertheless, the trial court correctly denied Petitioner's motions to dismiss, motion for acquittal and motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict.

ARGUMENT

<u>ISSUE I</u>

DISTRICT THE SECOND COURT OF APPEAL THAT CORRECTLY HELD S 316.650(9), FLA. DID NOT PRECLUDE ADMISSION OF STAT., PETITIONER'S TRAFFIC CITATIONS AT TRIAL.

In Maddox v. State, 862 So. 2d 783 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), the Second District affirmed the trial court's ruling admitting the two traffic citations into evidence. In reaching that conclusion, the Second District certified conflict with the First District's decision in *Dixon v. State*, 812 So. 2d 595 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002). It is upon that certification that the parties are presently before this Court.

Jurisdiction

This Court has discretionary review over decisions of district courts of appeal that are certified to be in direct conflict with decisions of other district courts of appeal. See Fla. R. App. P. 9.030 (a)(2)(A)(vi). However, if the decisions are not in actual conflict, this Court may dismiss for lack of jurisdiction. See e.g., Dept. of Revenue v. Johnston, 442 So. 2d 950 (Fla. 1983)(Where cause was before Court because of apparent conflict between opinion of district court below and opinion of two other district courts, but cause was distinguishable on its facts from those cited in conflict, court would discharge

jurisdiction).

Notwithstanding the Second District's certification, the decisions in *Maddox* and *Dixon* are not particularly in conflict because Petitioner waived the issue of the admissibility of the traffic citations at trial and, the cases are distinguishable.

At the motion to dismiss hearing and again at trial, the officer testified that his observation of Petitioner's signature on one of the citations led him to conclude that Petitioner had signed the citation "N. Maddox." At the motion in limine hearing, Petitioner's counsel informed the trial court that if the officer testified at trial that the citations was signed "N. Maddox," she wanted the citations published to the jury to show that Petitioner merely signed his last name of "Maddox." When in fact the officer did testify at trial that the signature contained a first initial, Petitioner's trial counsel used the citations to his advantage to cross-examine the officer (T. 162). Accordingly, Petitioner waived the issue and should have been precluded from arguing the admissibility of the citations on appeal. See Ellison v. State, 349 So. 2d 731 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977) (A criminal defendant may, by his conduct, make otherwise constitutionally inadmissible evidence admissible for certain purposes).

Because the Second District discussed and found that this issue indeed may have been waived in *Maddox*, if this Court

accepts jurisdiction and rules on the merits, it could result in an erosion of the law of waiver and preservation in this State.

Second, the Maddox trial court specifically found that the two original citations were not "traffic citations" as contemplated by § 316.650(9), because they were no longer issued and had been voided. The deputy discovered Petitioner's true identity during the traffic stop and took back the citations he had issued in the name of Nathaniel Maddox for improper lane change and failure to produce proof of insurance and placed them in evidence back at the police station. He did not deposit the original and one copy of the citations with the clerk of the court having jurisdiction over the offenses as required by § 316.650 (3), Fla. Stat. (T. 131). This shows the citations were not issued as contemplated by the statute.

The Second District took a slightly different approach and concluded the two citations were admissible at trial because the officer had withdrawn the charges against Nathaniel Lewis Maddox upon learning Petitioner's true identity and thus the charges of improper lane change and failure to show proof of insurance were no longer pending against anyone and so the documents were not "citations" as contemplated by the statute, but rather documentary evidence of Petitioner's conduct. *See Maddox* 862 So. 2d at 784.

However, in *Dixon*, there was no showing the citations were retained by the officers as in *Maddox*, no showing that they were not deposited with the clerk, and thus no showing the citations were not in fact issued. *Dixon*, 812 So. 2d 595. These cases are factually distinguishable. Jurisdiction should be dismissed.

Merits

The Second District was correct in affirming the trial court's ruling admitting the forged traffic citations into evidence at trial.¹ Section 316.650, Fla. Stat., applies to uniform traffic citations. According to § 316.650(9), "such citations shall not be admissible evidence in any trial." (emphasis added).

When the reference to "any trial" is read in the context of Chapter 316, and in conjunction with the Legislature's announced intention expressly set forth at § 316.002, and the legislative history of § 316.650(9), the reference to "any trial" in § 316.650(9), Fla. Stat., was intended by the Legislature to mean any trial ". . . on any charge involving any violation of chapter 317 [now Chapter 316] or upon a charge of a violation of any statute regulating the control of traffic

 $^{^1}$ This issue is presently pending before this Court on certified question from the Second District Court of Appeal. See State v. Veilleux, SC03-2050.

[UNIFORM TRAFFIC TICKET AND COMPLAINT FORM]

(4) <u>Such citations</u> shall not be admissible as evidence in any trial." (emphasis added)

^{· · · &}quot;²

 $^{^2}$ The predecessor for 316.650(9) was 317.112 (1969) which provided in subparagraphs 3 and 4 thereof:

[&]quot;(3) All prosecutions on any charge involving any violation of chapter 317 or upon a charge of a violation of any statute regulating the control of traffic upon the highways of the state shall be by a uniform traffic substantially as herein after set forth:

The Dixon decision

In Dixon v. State, 812 So. 2d 595 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002), the defendant gave the police officer who stopped him a false name and Dixon signed a traffic citation using the false name. *Id.* at 596. When his true identity was discovered, Dixon was charged with forgery as well as driving without a valid driver's license. Dixon filed a motion in *limine*, on the authority of section 316.650(9), Fla. Stat. (2000), to exclude the admission of the traffic citation. The trial court (the Honorable Kenneth Bell) denied his motion, finding that the legislature could not have intended the exclusion of a traffic citation when the execution of the citation is the basis of the offense at trial.

The First District Court reversed the trial court's ruling, "[b]ecause the language of section 316.650(9) unambiguously provides that traffic citations are not admissible in any trial." According to the *Dixon* court, § 316.650(9) contains "no exceptions to its clear and unambiguous prohibition against admitting a traffic citation as evidence in any trial." *Id.* at 596. Thus, the appellate court, in *Dixon*, applied the evidentiary exclusion expansively to **any** trial, civil or criminal or traffic, and, in particular, applied the exclusion to the actual document -- the uniform citation -- containing the forgery for which the defendant was being prosecuted. For the

following reasons, this Court should disapprove the First District's decision in *Dixon*.

Section 316.650(9) is "unambiguous" only when viewed in complete isolation from the context of Chapter 316 and the Legislature's stated intention and the legislative history and purpose of 316.650(9), Fla. Stat.

The Dixon court concluded that the traffic citation, signed by the defendant using a false name, must be excluded at his trial on the forgery charge "[b]ecause the language of section 316.650(9) unambiguously provides that traffic citations are not admissible in any trial." The State submits that Section 316.650(9) is "unambiguous," under Dixon, only if viewed in complete isolation from the context of Chapter 316 and overlooking the Legislature's stated intention and the legislative history and purpose of § 316.650(9), Fla. Stat.

It is axiomatic that statutory phrases, such as "any trial," are not to be read in isolation but, rather, they should be read within the context of the entire chapter so that all related provisions can be read together as a cohesive whole. See Jones v ETS of New Orleans, Inc., 793 So. 2d 912, 914 - 915 (Fla. 2001); State v. Bradford, 787 So. 2d 811, 819 (Fla. 2001); Young v. Progressive Southeastern Ins. Co, 753 So. 2d 80, 84 (Fla. 2000). Just as a single word cannot be read in isolation, nor can a single provision in a statute; instead, the court should accord meaning and harmony to all of its parts. See Hectman v. Nations Title Ins. of New York, 840 So. 2d 993, 996

(Fla. 2003).

Chapter 316 of the Florida Statutes is known, and cited, as the "Florida Uniform Traffic Control Law." § 316.001, Fla. Stat. The legislative intent for Chapter 316 is set out explicitly as follows:

> 316.002 **Purpose**. - It is the legislative intent in the adoption of this chapter to make uniform traffic laws to apply throughout the state and its several counties and uniform traffic ordinances to apply in all municipalities. The Legislature recognizes that there are conditions which require municipalities to pass certain other traffic ordinances in regulation of municipal traffic that are not required to regulate the movement of traffic outside of such municipalities. Section 316.008 enumerates the area within which municipalities may control certain traffic movement or parking in their respective jurisdictions. This section shall be supplemental to the other laws or ordinances of this chapter and not in conflict therewith. It is unlawful for any local authority to pass or to attempt to enforce ordinance in conflict with any the provisions of this chapter." (emphasis added)

In section $316.066(4)^3$, the Legislature expressly and specifically included the language ". . . civil or criminal . . ." following the phrase ". . . any trial . . ." Thus, the answer to the question in this case depends on whether the

³"No such report or statement shall be used as evidence in any trial, civil or criminal." § 316.066(4) Fla. Stat. (2002).

phrase "any trial" as used in § 316.650(9), Fla. Stat. should be interpreted to mean any trial (for traffic offenses under Chapter 316) or should be interpreted expansively, as in the *Dixon* case, to mean "any trial, *civil or criminal.*"

The Legislature's use of different terms in different portions of the same statute or chapter is a strong indication that different meanings were intended by the Legislature. See State v. Bradford, 787 So. 2d 811, 819 (Fla. 2001). Here, the Legislature omitted the phrase " . . . civil or criminal" following section 316.650(9)'s reference to "any trial." This Court has explained that it would not imply the missing language [which in this case is "civil or criminal"] where it has been omitted by the Legislature. See Bradford, at 819.

Where the Legislature includes language in one section, *i.e.* " ... civil or criminal ...", as it did in § 316.066(4), and omits that same language in another section, *i.e.* no reference in § 316.650(9) to "civil or criminal," it is to be presumed that the omission of the language in § 316.650(9) was intentional, so that the phrase "any trial" in § 316.650(9) should not be interpreted to mean "any trial, in *civil or criminal*" cases but, instead, should be interpreted to mean "any trial" in <u>traffic cases</u>, consistent with its context in Chapter 316 and with the legislative history of § 316.650(9). In other words, if the Legislature had intended § 316.650(9) to mean any trial in "civil or criminal" cases, the Legislature would have

said so, as it did in § 316.066(4), Fla. Stat.

When the Legislature said, in § 316.066(4), that "No such report or statement shall be used as evidence in any trial, *civil or criminal* ...", the Legislature's purpose in adopting such language was (1) to encourage true and uninhibited reports of accidents, the ultimate goal being to make highways safer; and (2) to relieve persons from incriminating themselves -"... in any trial, civil or criminal..." - by their forced compliance with the dictates of § 316.066, Fla. Stat. requiring truthful reporting of the facts surrounding the accident. *See Vedner v. State*, 849 So. 2d 1207 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003). On the other hand, as described by Chief Judge Altenbernd in his dissenting opinion in *State v. Veilleux*, 859 So. 2d 1224 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), the purpose of § 316.650(9),

> In the context of the initial enactment, section 316.650(9) was enacted to make certain that uniform traffic citations would not become admissible as business records and that traffic officers would still be required to attend traffic court. This assured that charged drivers could confront the State's primary witness against them in traffic court.

Veilleux, 859 So. 2d at 1230 (Altenbernd, J., dissenting).

Consideration must be accorded not only to the literal and usual meaning of a word or phrase, but also to the meaning and effect in context of the objective and purpose of statute's

enactment. See NICA v. Div. of Administrative Hearings, 686 So. 2d 1349, 1354 (Fla. 1997).

Chapter 316 was created by the Legislature in order to combine two previously existing traffic laws, Chapters 317 (State Traffic Laws), and Chapter 186 (Municipal Traffic Ordinances). The Legislature combined those Chapters into Chapter 316, to be known as the "Florida Uniform Traffic Control Law". See Chapter 71-135, Laws of Florida, 1971. The title for Chapter 71-135, Laws of Florida 1971 describes the act as "AN ACT relating to the regulation of traffic . . ." The title of the act defines the scope of the law, "regulation of traffic . . .", as intended by the Legislature. See e.g., State v. Bradford, 787 So. 2d 811, 819 (Fla. 2001); State v. Webb, 398 So. 2d 820, 825 (Fla. 1981); Fajardo v. State, 805 So. 2d 961, 963 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001).

Nowhere in its title or in the "Whereas" clauses following the title is there any indication whatsoever that any portion of Chapter 316 was intended by the Legislature to apply to prosecutions for forgery.⁴ The provisions of Chapter 316 should

⁴Other sections of Chapter 316 which should be read *in pari materia* include:

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